

A Guide to Health Impact Assessments for Nonprofit Organizations



Table of Contents

Introduction to Health Impact Assessments (HIAs)	3
Why use an HIA?	5
When should an HIA be done?	5
Who conducts HIAs?	5
What are the potential outcomes of an HIA?	6
Scale of the HIA & Implications for Resources Needed	7
Rapid	7
Intermediate	7
Comprehensive	8
Resources on Cost & Funding	10
Phases of HIAs	11
Screening	11
Scoping	11
Assessment & Recommendations	11
Reporting & Dissemination	12
Monitoring & Evaluation	12
Three Types of Evaluation	13
SOPHIA HIA How-To Series	14
Community Participation & Stakeholder Engagement	15
Common Types of Stakeholder Engagement Activities	15
Stakeholders Defined	15
Benefits of Stakeholder Participation	16
Best Practices	16
Resources on Community Participation and Engagement	17
Success Factors & Challenges	18
Factors that Increase the Likelihood of Success	18
Common Challenges	19
Resources on Success Factors & Challenges	19
HIAs in the Oil & Gas Sector	20
Additional Resources	21
References	24

Introduction to Health Impact Assessments

A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is a systematic process consisting of multiple steps conducted to understand the potential health impacts of a proposed project, policy, plan, procedure, or program (these terms are used interchangeably throughout this document). The goal of an HIA is to understand the potential health impacts of a project and provide recommendations for how to maximize positive health impacts and minimize negative ones. An HIA is a neutral process and therefore not a tool used to advocate for a predetermined outcome—it is simply a way to understand the possible implications of the project. HIAs also seek to understand how these health impacts differentially affect groups within the population.



SPOTLIGHT ON EQUITY

According to the Society of Practitioners of Health Impact Assessment (SOPHIA), an HIA "assesses the distribution of potential impacts from a proposal on the whole population, with particular attention to how the proposal will affect populations that face inequities and significant barriers to health and wellbeing (in terms of age, gender, ethnic background, socioeconomic status, or other factors)."

An HIA is a tool that can be used to address equity and environmental justice concerns related to a decision that may cause health impacts. Equity is a guiding value of any HIA, and it should be considered throughout the entire HIA process rather than as an individual portion of, or separate process from, the HIA. HIAs should consider the distribution of the health impacts among different segments of the population and determine who would be disproportionately impacted.



Another way equity can be considered in HIAs is by considering the cumulative impacts or effects a given project would lead to. This means considering the decision within the current context of the community. For example, if a new facility that emits air pollutants is being considered, consideration must be given to whether there are already emitting facilities that impact

the same population and what the result of adding more pollution would be, rather than considering just the potential impacts of the new facility on its own.

Equity-specific resources:

- How to Advance Equity through Health Impact Assessments (SOPHIA) Includes an equity planning tool and an equity evaluation tool
- Communicating About Equity in Health Impact Assessments: A Guide for Practitioners (SOPHIA)
- Promoting Health Equity through the Practice of Health Impact Assessment

WHY USE AN HIA?

An HIA may be used to:

- Identify prospective impacts before a decision is made
- Provide evidence-based strategies and recommendations
- Support transparency, inclusion, and democracy in the decision-making process
- Focus on quality of life (rather than economic) impacts
- Promote health, equity, and justice
- Inform a discussion on trade-offs

Some of the benefits of an HIA include that it brings together community members (community groups, business owners, policymakers), it considers many types of influences on health (social, economic, environmental), and it acknowledges trade-offs of choices while recommending ways to bring about the most benefit and the least harm.

WHEN SHOULD AN HIA BE DONE?

In a broad sense, it is appropriate to conduct an HIA for any potential change that could impact the health of a population or community. HIAs are used to understand the potential implications for the health of proposed policies, programs, and projects. These range widely in geographic scale (local, state, national, international) and sector (city planning, air quality, built environment, food accessibility, transportation, housing, and more). Although an HIA could be conducted on many policies, projects, plans, and programs, it is not possible or necessary to always do an HIA, and the screening phase of an HIA helps you determine whether to undertake an HIA for a specific decision. HIAs are conducted to understand the future implications of a policy decision and so cannot be used to analyze policy action taken in the past.

WHO CONDUCTS AN HIA?

Government agencies, academic institutions, and nonprofit organizations conduct most HIAs. Community organizations may also lead HIAs if they receive training or guidance from experienced HIA practitioners. It is common for multiple entities to partner in conducting an HIA and for that to include partners from different sectors, including government, nonprofits, and community organizations.

WHAT ARE THE POTENTIAL OUTCOMES OF AN HIA?

There are a number of possible outcomes to conducting an HIA and developing a final HIA report. An HIA can:

- Provide useful information about potential health impacts and recommendations to maximize positive and minimize negative health impacts.
- Impact decisions (including changes to policy/project/program/plan), the impact of which could be very large (e.g., the project is stopped) or much smaller (e.g., tweaks to policy language or project plan).
- Lead to changes to institutional decision-making practices, especially when it comes to routinely considering health in these practices.
- Establish or strengthen relationships
 between stakeholders, including
 community members/groups, government agencies, and organizations.
- Inform decision-makers and community members about how health can be impacted by policies/projects/programs in non-health sectors.



Scale of the HIA & Implications for Resources Needed

Not all HIAs are done on the same scale. Some situations allow for a more comprehensive approach while others do not. This decision will depend on a community's resources, time, or capacity. Below is a short description of each of the three scales of HIA typically conducted, from least to most comprehensive, including some guiding parameters (time to complete, number of health impacts included, types of activities/assessment, and extent of community participation).

Health impacts are defined as the effects that a proposed policy, program, project, or development may have on the health of individuals, communities, or populations. These impacts can be both positive and negative, direct or indirect, and can affect various aspects of health. A few of the most considered health impacts in HIAs include physical health, access to healthcare or health services, healthy behaviors, occupational health, community well-being, and environmental health. Health impacts and outcomes can be further specified under any of these categories, depending on what the HIA initially sets out to investigate.

The scales of HIA are:

RAPID



A rapid HIA is the shortest version of an HIA that meets the minimum elements outlined by SOPHIA. It takes approximately four to five weeks to complete and consists of a literature review, limited data collection, and community engagement, often in the form of small stakeholder interviews and meetings. This scale of an HIA can accommodate consideration of up to three health impacts.

Example: Dover, Delaware, Rapid Health Impact Assessment

INTERMEDIATE



An intermediate HIA takes approximately six months to complete and should consider between three and seven health impacts. This scale of HIA includes primary data collection and should incorporate both qualitative and quantitative data. At this scale, the formation of a community advisory board to guide the process as part of the stakeholder and community engagement strategy is also recommended.

Example: <u>Assessing Air Quality and Public Health Benefits of New</u> York City's Climate Action Plans

COMPREHENSIVE



A comprehensive HIA takes the longest time and allows for the most extensive community and stakeholder participation. This process can take approximately six months to one year or more and, because of this, it should only be considered when the decision-making timeline allows for this long period of study. When a comprehensive HIA can be done, it includes all the parameters outlined in an intermediate HIA, but it also allows for consideration of as many different health impacts as possible and for a deeper dive into the community's experience.

Example: <u>Kingsbury Bay-Grassy Point Habitat Restoration Project: A</u> health impact assessment-presentation

Note: Another type of HIA is referred to as a desk-based HIA, but this type of HIA is not recommended because it does not include a stakeholder engagement component and therefore does not meet SOPHIA's minimum elements and practice standards (MEPS).

The scale of an HIA also has significant implications for the cost and other resources necessary to complete the HIA. The resources needed will also depend on other factors, such as the location, methodology, data collection, and stakeholder engagement activities. If your budget is predetermined, you will have to design your HIA with this in mind, which could have a big impact on the scale of HIA you are able to conduct, the extent of stakeholder participation, the type of activities you can do to collect data, and other elements. For reference, SOPHIA reported in 2015 that "projects with restricted budgets or timelines" cost under \$75,000, while "projects with larger budgets or longer timelines" cost over \$75,000. It is also important to note that the costs required for stakeholder participation are often underestimated.

The four levels and their reson Resources and practice guide	urce and practice implications (a to each level of depth in HIA	dapted from"):	
DESK BASED	RAPID	INTERMEDIATE	COMPREHENSIVE
2-6 weeks for one person full time'.	6 to 12 weeks for one person full time.	12 weeks to 6 months for one person full time.	6 to 12 months for one person full time.
Provides a broad overview of potential health impacts.	Provides a more detailed overview of potential health impacts.	Provides a more thorough assessment of potential health impacts, and more detail on specific predicted impacts.	Provides a comprehensive assessment of potential health impacts.
Could be used where time and resources are limited.	Could be used where time and resources are limited.	Requires significant time and resources.	Requires significant time and resources.
s an 'off the shelf' exercise based on collecting and analysing existing accessible data.	Involves collecting and analysing existing data with limited input from experts and key stakeholders	Involves collecting and analysing existing data as well as gathering new qualitative data from stakeholders and key informants.	Involves collecting and analysing data from multiple sources (qualitative and quantitative)
Activities include accessing off the shelf resources and synthesising and appraising information.	Activities include accessing resources, hosting and supporting meetings, and synthesising and appraising information. If capacity does not exist in-house, consideration should be given to commissioning external assessors.	Activities include accessing resources, hosting and supporting meetings, identifying stakeholders and key informants, gathering and analysing qualitative and quantitative data, and synthesising and appraising information. If capacity does not exist inhouse, consideration should be given to commissioning external assessors.	Activities include accessing resources, hosting and supporting meetings, identifying stakeholders and key informants, gathering and analysing qualitative and quantitative data, and synthesising and appraising information. If capacity does not exist in-house, consideration should be given to commissioning external assessors.

TABLE 3

Level of HIA and number and depth of impacts to assess:

DESK BASED	RAPID	INTERMEDIATE	COMPREHENSIVE
No more than three impacts, assessed in less detail	No more than three impacts, assessed in more detail	Three to ten impacts, assessed in detail	All potential impacts, assessed in detail
Provides a broad overview of potential health impacts	Provides a more detailed overview of potential health impacts	Provides a more thorough assessment of potential health impacts, and more detail on specific predicted impacts	Provides a comprehensive assessment of potential health impacts

Source: University of New South Wales Research Centre for Primary Health Care and Equity: Health Impact Assessment: A Practical Guide

RESOURCES ON COSTS & FUNDING

- Building Regional Capacity for Health Impact Assessment Mapping Regional Resources
- Stakeholder Engagement: Planning and Budget Resource
 - Discussions for each of four types of stakeholder engagement (meetings, focus groups, interviews, and surveys), including why to use that engagement, questions and costs to consider, and cost-saving strategies as well as a budget worksheet.
- Potential Funding Sources
 - Data suggests that funding for not only HIAs, but public health initiatives as a whole, <a href="https://has.com/has.c
 - State, county, and city or municipal governments
 - CDC National Center for Environmental Health, Healthy Communities Design Initiative
 - Federal government agencies (via <u>www.grants.gov</u>; keyword search "health impact assessment" and filter by location)
 - Local academic institutions, which at times fund community entities for health impact work
 - Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO)
 - National Association for County and City Health Officials (NACHHO)
 - Robert Wood Johnson Foundation
 - Health Impact Fund
 - The Cigna Group
 - The National institutes of Health (NIH)
 - National Network of Public Health Institutes (NNPHI)
 - American Public Health Association (APHA) Public Health Funder Network
 - Public Health Institute
 - Pew Charitable Trusts
 - W.K. Kellogg Foundation
 - Kresge FoundationKaiser Family Foundation

Phases of HIAs

The HIA process involves multiple components, detailed below. In recent years, the language has shifted from "steps" to "phases" to emphasize that conducting an HIA is an iterative process and previous phases may be revisited as the process proceeds.

SCREENING



Purpose: Determine if the HIA should be conducted for the decision under consideration

Activities: Examine if the HIA is feasible (enough time, resources, and staff to complete it) and if it will add value (e.g., Is the decision likely to have an impact on health, are there stakeholder concerns, or will the HIA provide new information?)

Outcome: Decision on whether to proceed with the HIA

SCOPING



Purpose: Design the HIA

Activities: Determine goals, geographic range, timeframe (of HIA and decision), health impacts to consider, impacted populations, and any other relevant parameters. Based on all of this, what scale of HIA should be done?

Outcomes: Goals of HIA, description of impacted population and geography, research questions, list of participants and their roles/responsibilities, draft health impact pathways (logic model)

ASSESSMENT & RECOMMENDATIONS



Purpose: Assess and make a plan to address predicted health impacts

Activities: Use data to predict the health outcomes of the decision, which can include conducting a literature review, compiling and reviewing existing evidence, looking at similar projects, and engaging with community members and other stakeholders. Note: The exact methodology you use will depend on your question.

Outcome: Characterization of the health impacts (likelihood, direction, magnitude, severity, distribution) of the decision

REPORTING & DISSEMINATION



Purpose: Communicate results and recommendations to decision-makers and the community

Activities: Create a final report (see MEPS for what to include), disseminate the findings and recommendations of the HIA to the community and stakeholders

Outcome: Findings and recommendations of the HIA are available to the public/relevant stakeholders

MONITORING & EVALUATION



Purpose: Create sustainability and improvements beyond the initial HIA period

Activities: Process evaluation of the HIA (outcome and impact evaluations also, if possible); develop and implement a monitoring strategy for surveillance of outcomes, effectiveness of recommendations, and new recommendations

Outcome: Evaluation of the HIA process and improvements for the HIA team or process for use in the future; sustained relevance of the recommendations and relationships formed through the HIA process

Three Types of Evaluation

There are three different types of evaluation that can be conducted for any HIA: *process, outcome*, and *impact*. Each type of evaluation serves to answer different questions that will either help to improve future HIAs or help understand the influence and effect of the HIA being evaluated.

- Process: Did we accomplish our goals? Did we use our resources well? Were we inclusive Example: Atlanta (Georgia) Beltline Health Impact Assessment
 In the process evaluation of an HIA conducted for a proposed urban redevelopment project, the assessment team aimed to analyze whether they accomplished their goals efficiently and inclusively. They utilized surveys and stakeholder feedback sessions to assess the involvement of diverse community groups in the decision-making process. The evaluation team included efforts to stay in contact with decision makers for a 25-year implementation timeline after project completion, which is included as part of the ongoing evaluation efforts of the HIA.
- Outcome: What new partnerships were formed? Did predicted immediate health impacts occur? How well were community concerns incorporated into the decision? Is there any ongoing community involvement?

Example: Safe Streets for Seniors (New York City Department of Transportation) In an outcome evaluation of an HIA focused on transportation infrastructure and pedestrian safety, the assessment aimed to measure the change in pedestrian injury and fatality. The assessment team tracked efforts such as high visibility crosswalks, curb repair, and considerations for elderly pedestrians as part of their evaluation efforts. The evaluation revealed that pedestrian injuries and fatalities decreased as much as 60% in some of the campaign areas.

• Impact: How many of the recommendations were adopted? How many community members can remain engaged? Did the process change because of the HIA? Were health considerations institutionalized in any process change?

Example: East Bay Greenway Health Impact Assessment (San Francisco)

An HIA was conducted to assess the potential health impacts of proposed transportation policies aiming to expand bike lanes and improve pedestrian infrastructure in the city center. The HIA focused on evaluating the impact of the HIA on the decision-making process and subsequent policy changes. The impact evaluation determined that 90% of policy recommendations were adopted and that city officials significantly adjusted their decision-making process throughout the project. HIAs also became mandatory for other city planning projects in the wake of this project.

SOPHIA HIA HOW-TO SERIES AND OTHER RELEVANT RECORDINGS

Health Impact Assessment Overview webinar (May 2023)

HIA How To: Screening and Scoping (June 2023)

HIA How To: Designing the Assessment Phase (July 2023)

HIA How To: Recommendations and Reporting (August 2023)

Participation, Power, and Health Impact Assessment: Strategies for Health Equity (June 2023)

A Research Agenda for HIA (December 2023)

SOPHIA's HiAP Implementation Guide (December 2023)

Community Participation & Stakeholder Engagement

Community participation and stakeholder engagement is typically one of the most challenging parts of conducting an HIA, and opinions have differed on its value and best practices. Ensuring that participation is meaningful and reflective of the entire affected population, especially those who are most disproportionately affected, is a challenging task and is often in tension with the timeline available to conduct an HIA. This topic requires special attention and consideration before embarking on an HIA.

COMMON STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

There are a number of activities stakeholders commonly engage in:

- Surveys
- Public meetings (one example is the three-meeting process, as outlined in <u>Health impact</u> assessment and community involvement in land remediation decisions)
- Focus groups or small group interviews
- Community workshop(s)
- Advisory/steering committee leadership

These are some of the most common and general types of stakeholder engagement activities, but many more options are possible (see page 11 of <u>Guidance and Best Practices for Stakeholder Participation in HIA</u>).

STAKEHOLDERS DEFINED

The SOPHIA resource Guidance and Best Practices for Stakeholder Participation in HIA defines stakeholders as "individuals or organizations who stand to gain or lose from a decision or process," including people who "are affected by the prospective change, have an interest in the health impacts of the policy or project under consideration because of their position, have an active or passive influence on the decision-making and implementation process of the project or policy under construction, or have an economic or business interest in the outcome of the decision." This definition can be used to figure out who stakeholders are for your specific HIA context, but some examples of common stakeholder categories include community-based organizations, residents, service providers, elected officials, small businesses, industry, developers and big businesses, public agencies, advocacy organizations, academic, learning and research institutions, and HIA consultant organizations. It is important to have participation from a diverse set of stakeholders representing many different interests.

BENEFITS OF STAKEHOLDER PARTICIPATION

Communities stand to benefit from stakeholder participation in an HIA in various ways. Stakeholder engagement in HIAs can allow communities to:

- Acquire a better understanding of community concerns about health and the environment, currently and historically
- Identify equity issues
- Increase transparency
- Co-create recommendations
- Increase support and accountability for recommendations
- Increase community capacity to participate in a decision that impacts individuals
- Increase accuracy and value of the HIA
- Incorporate more forms of evidence in policymaking

BEST PRACTICES

The SOPHIA Guidance and Best Practices for Stakeholder Engagement in Health Impact Assessments is a great resource to learn more about stakeholder participation, including best practices. Table 3 (below) summarizes the essential and recommended practice standards for stakeholder engagement during each phase of the HIA process.

Table 3: North American HIA Practice Standards Relating to Stakeholder Participation by HIA Stage®

	HIA Standards for Practitioners	Section
Process Oversigh	nt: Intended to be used throughout all the stages of the HIA	
Essential	Accept and utilize diverse stakeholder input.	1.5
Recommended	 Have a specific engagement and participation approach that utilizes available participatory or <u>deliberative methods</u> suitable to the need stakeholders and context 	is of 1.6
Screening Stage:	Deciding whether an HIA is needed, feasible, and relevant	
Essential	 Understand stakeholder concerns in order to determine potential health effects. Identify and notify stakeholders of decision to conduct a HIA. 	2.2.3 2.3
Recommended	 Identify stakeholders to potentially partner with a HIA. Seek diverse stakeholder participation in screening the target policy or HIA plan. 	
Scoping Stage:	Deciding which health impacts to evaluate and evaluation methodology	
Essential	 Use input from multiple perspectives to inform <u>pathways</u> (between the policy, plan or project and key health outcomes). Use multiple at to solicit input (from stakeholders, affected communities, decision makers). Ensure a mechanism to incorporate new feedback from stakeholders on the scope of the HIA. 	venues 3.1 3.7
Recommended	Work with diverse stakeholders to prioritize key elements of analysis. Seek feedback from stakeholders on HIA scope.	
Assessment Stag	e: Using data, research, and analysis to determine the magnitude and direction of potential health impacts	
Essential	Use local knowledge as part of the evidence base.	4.2.1 4.2.4
Recommended	 Work to engage all stakeholders in data collection. Seek feedback from stakeholders on draft findings. 	
Recommendation	s: Providing recommendations to manage the identified health impacts and improve health conditions	
Essential	 Use expert guidance to ensure recommendations reflect effective practices. 	5.2
Recommended	 Work with community and other stakeholders to identify and prioritize recommendations. Seek input on recommendations. 	
Reporting & Com	munication: Sharing the results, recommendations	
Essential	 Summarize primary findings and recommendations to allow for stakeholder understanding, evaluation, and response. Document stakeholder participation in the full report. Make an inclusive accounting of stakeholder values when determining recommendations. Allow for, and formally respond to, critical review from stakeholders, and make the report publicly accessible. 	6.2 6.3 6.5 6.6-7
Recommended	 Seek diverse input on draft final report. Work with stakeholders to build their capacity to understand and articulate the findings of the HIA. 	
Monitoring:	Tracking how the HIA affects the decision and its outcomes	
Essential	 Plan should address reporting outcomes to decision makers. Monitoring methods and results should be made available to the public. 	7.2 7.4
Recommended	 Involve interested stakeholders in monitoring outcomes. 	

Best Practices for Stakeholder Participation in Health Impact Assessments – March 2012 Stakeholder Participation Working Group of the 2010 HIA in the Americas Workshop

Source: Guidance and Best Practices for Stakeholder Participation in Health Impact Assessments

The document also includes a sample participation guide (Table 4) detailing the opportunities for stakeholder participation in each phase of the HIA process, including the tasks related to stakeholder participation, methods of ensuring participation, potential achievements, when it works best, and sample tools. This guide also includes information on various factors that influence stakeholder participation (e.g., time and resources constraints, equity, transparency, and responsiveness) and how they can impact your participation plan (Table 5), as well as pitfalls or mistakes that can happen during stakeholder engagement and possible solutions to avoid them (Table 6). The guide also includes four examples of successful stakeholder engagement in HIAs and a worksheet for stakeholder analysis (page 47).

RESOURCES ON COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION AND ENGAGEMENT

- Guidance and Best Practices for Stakeholder Participation in Health Impact Assessments
- Stakeholder Engagement: Planning and Budget Resource
 - Discussions on each of the four types of stakeholder engagement (meetings, focus groups, interviews, and surveys), including why to use it, questions and costs to consider, cost-saving strategies, and a budget worksheet.
 - <u>Participation, Power, and HIA: Strategies for Health Equity webinar</u> (SOPHIA webinar, recorded June 2023)
 - Stakeholder Engagement Video Series (SOPHIA)
 - More resources about stakeholder engagement: https://hiasociety.org/Stakeholder-Engagement-Tools-&-Materials

Success Factors & Challenges

Some studies have shown that if certain factors are included in an HIA, there is an increased likelihood of the HIA being successful. Striving to include these factors in your HIA and dedicating enough time and resources to do them well could increase the chances of reaching the goals of your HIA. These studies also found some common challenges in conducting HIAs. Understanding these common challenges before beginning your HIA can help you plan your HIA in such a way as to avoid problematic issues to the extent possible, enabling you to be prepared to address challenges that do come up.



FACTORS THAT INCREASE THE LIKELIHOOD OF SUCCESS

A number of factors increase the likelihood of HIA success:

- Conduct screening: Make sure an HIA is the right tool for the context; only choose targets for which an HIA makes sense.
- Ensure there is expertise in necessary areas on the HIA team (content, decision-making, project management, stakeholder engagement).
- Engage key stakeholders and decision-makers throughout the process.
- Make clear, actionable, and realistic recommendations.
- Emphasize communication tailored to each audience and delivered at the right time.
- Build credibility for the HIA with an evidence-based approach and stakeholder input.

COMMON CHALLENGES

Common challenges to successful HIAs include:

- Properly estimating the time, effort, and resources required
- Adequately engaging stakeholders and decision makers
- Understanding the timing and working at the speed of decision making; the HIA must be developed enough to assess health impacts but completed early enough to still influence decisions
- Finding continuity during political administration changes/turnover
- Access to quality data, relevant to the HIA; filling gaps in evidence
- Equity: consistent and meaningful participation of vulnerable populations
- Ensuring attention is given to recommendations, including follow-up and implementation
- Gauging adequate training for participants (public health professionals, community members, decision-makers)

RESOURCES ON SUCCESS FACTORS AND CHALLENGES

- An evaluation of health impact assessments in the United States, 2011-2014 (2015)
- Growing the field of health impact assessment in the United States: an agenda for research and practice

HIAs in the Oil & Gas Sector

EHP Information and Educational Resources

- Health Risks from Shale Gas Waste
- Risks to Water from Shale Gas Development
- Episodic Air Pollution Exposures and Shale Gas Development

Partner Organization Resources

 Compendium of Scientific, Medical, and Media Findings Demonstrating Risks and Harms of Fracking and Associated Gas and Oil Infrastructure, Ninth Edition, October 19, 2023 (Physicians for Social Responsibility)

Completed HIA Examples in the Oil & Gas Sector

• Marcellus Shale: The Importance of Public Health Agency Independence: Marcellus Shale Gas Drilling in Pennsylvania

This health impact assessment offers an overview of the potential health impacts of shale gas drilling in the Marcellus Shale. The findings of the impact assessment include an uncovered need for further policy action to actively protect resident health. The author also assessed a tight tie between government and oil and gas development companies, citing this partnership as a risk to public health.

Alberta: Oil Sands Development: A Health Risk Worth Taking?
 This health impact assessment provides an overview of the global impact of oil sands, including the release of greenhouse gases resulting from gas extraction. These outcomes are put into context of potential health exposures to nearby residents and the

environment globally.

 Colorado: <u>The Health Impact Assessment for Battlement Mesa, Garfield County,</u> <u>Colorado</u>

This health impact assessment uses surveys and storytelling to understand the potential impacts of oil and gas development on a relatively smaller municipality. The assessment outlines in detail the process of building the HIA and is a good example of how to conduct such an assessment at a municipal-level scale.

• General: The Use of Health Impact Assessment for a Community Undergoing Natural Gas Development

Additional Resources

Guidelines

Many guidelines on HIA practice are available. While not an exhaustive list, the documents listed below are often referenced, and many were used in the making of this guide.

- Health Impact Assessment: A Guide for Practice (Health Impact Partners, 2011)
- Minimum Elements and Practice Standards (MEPS) (SOPHIA, updated in 2022)
- <u>The Merseyside Guidelines for HIA</u> (International Health IMPACT Assessment Consortium, 2001)
- <u>Equity-Focused HIA Framework</u> (Australian Collaboration for Health Equity Impact Assessment, 2004)
- HIA: Concepts and Guidelines for the Americas (WHO & PAHO, 2013)
- HIA Summary Guide (Human Impact Partners, 2014)
- <u>Rapid Health Impact Assessment Toolkit</u> (Design for Health University of Minnesota, 2008)
- SOPHIA Guide for Health in All Policies (HiAP) Implementation (SOPHIA, 2023)

SOPHIA (Society of Practitioners of Health Impact Assessment)

SOPHIA is an international membership organization of HIA practitioners formed in 2011. Its mission is to provide leadership and promote excellence in the practice of health impact assessments and health in all policies. There are many resources free to anyone, as well as additional benefits available by becoming a member. See below for more information and check out their website for the most up-to-date information and many, many resources!

Free resources

- <u>Chronicles of Health Impact Assessment</u> (CHIA) open access journal
- List of HIA Publications
- Model HIA Reports
- Recorded Webinars & Previous Events
 - How-to series (currently ongoing) that walks through how to conduct the various stages on an HIA
 - HIA Practitioner Stories

Membership

- Cost: See SOPHIA page on <u>membership pricing</u>
- Opportunity to join working groups
- Benefits
 - Quarterly newsletter
 - Mentorship opportunities
 - Member directory of HIA practitioners
 - Member-only events
 - Advertising opportunities

HIA DATABASES

Pew Database

- Includes HIAs and other resources like tools, datasets, guides, and more
- Can filter by resource type, sectors, topic areas, drivers of health, states and territories, geographic scope, decision-making levels, community types, organization types, affected populations, document languages, research methods, outcome statement, funding source, and status

<u>PubMed</u>

- A database that contains academic literature pertaining to health-related topics. It
 is important to note that most HIAs are not published as academic papers, but
 some have been, and there have been various academic studies of HIAs to try to
 understand what works well and what does not.
- <u>HIA MeSH Term</u>: MeSH terms are used in PubMed to index articles based on the topics they cover. To use a MeSH term when searching in PubMed, add [MeSH] after the term to have articles indexed with this word or phrase appear in the search. (Example: "Health Impact Assessment"[MeSH])

OTHER HELPFUL LINKS (MISCELLANEOUS)

- The Health Impact Assessment (HIA) Resource and Tool Compilation: A Comprehensive Toolkit for New and Experienced HIA Practitioners in the U.S. (EPA)
 - Health Impact Assessment Resources (CDC)
 - Compiled training resources: https://bephc.org/academic-training-in-health-impact-assessment/

References

- Association of State and Territorial Health Officials. (2020). New Data on State Health Agencies Shows Shrinking Workforce and Decreased Funding Leading Up to the COVID-19 Pandemic. ASTHO. https://www.astho.org/communications/newsroom/older-releases/new-sha-data-shows-shrinking-workforce-decreased-funding-leading-to-covid-19-pandemic/
- Baker, C., Gaydos, M., McLaughlin, J., Gilhuly, K., Iroz Elardo, N., Malekafzali, S., Tamburrini, A.-L., Vonasek, K., & White, S. (2012, March). *Guidance and Best Practices for Stakeholder Participation in Health Impact Assessments*. SOPHIA. https://hiasociety.org/resources/Documents/guide-for-stakeholder-participation.pdf
- Bever, E., Dills, J., Lindberg, R., & Whitehead, S. (2022, August). *Minimum elements and practice standards for Health Impact Assessment*. SOPHIA. https://hiasociety.org/resources/Documents/HIA%20ME-%20PS%20v4%202022.pdf
- Bhatia, R. (2011). *Health Impact Assessment: A Guide for Practice*. Human Impact Partners. https://https://https://htmanimpact.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/01/HIA-Guide-for-Practice.pdf
- Bourcier, E., Charbonneau, D., Cahill, C., & Dannenberg, A. L. (2015). An Evaluation of Health Impact Assessments in the United States, 2011–2014. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 12, E23. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd12.140376
- Cole, B. L., MacLeod, K. E., & Spriggs, R. (2019). Health Impact Assessment of Transportation Projects and Policies: Living Up to Aims of Advancing Population Health and Health Equity? *Annual Review of Public Health*, 40 (1), 305–318. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-013836
- Dannenberg, A. L., Bhatia, R., Cole, B. L., Dora, C., Fielding, J. E., Kraft, K., McClymont-Peace, D., Mindell, J., Onyekere, C., Roberts, J. A., Ross, C. L., Rutt, C. D., Scott-Samuel, A., & Tilson, H. H. (2006). Growing the field of health impact assessment in the United States: An agenda for research and practice. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(2), 262–270. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.069880
- Douglas, M. J., Conway, L., Gorman, D., Gavin, S., & Hanlon, P. (2001). Developing principles for health impact assessment. *Journal of Public Health*, 23(2), 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/23.2.148
- Farhang, L., Bhatia, R., Scully, C. C., Corburn, J., Gaydos, M., & Malekafzali, S. (2008). Creating Tools for Healthy Development: Case Study of San Francisco's Eastern Neighborhoods Community Health Impact Assessment. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 14(3), 255. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.PHH.0000316484.72759.7b
- Gillis, D. E. (1999). The 'People Assessing Their Health' (PATH) Project: Tools for Community Health Impact Assessment. *Canadian Journal of Public Health (Revue Canadienne de Santé Publique)*, 90(Suppl 1), S53–S56. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03403581
- Givens, M., Lucky, J., Trabelsi, A., Tsui, C., & Huynh, D. (n.d.). *Building Regional Capacity for Health Impact Assessment: Mapping Regional Resources*. SOPHIA. https://hiasociety.org/resources/Documents/Regional-Capacity-Building-Maps.pdf
- Goldstein, B. (2014). The Importance of Public Health Agency Independence: Marcellus Shale Gas Drilling in Pennsylvania. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(2): e-13-e15. https://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2013.301755
- Harris, P., Harris-Roxas, B., & Kemp, L. (2007, August). *Health Impact Assessment: A Practical Guide*. HIA Connect. https://hiaconnect.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/
 Health Impact Assessment A Practical Guide.pdf

- Heller, J., Bhatia, R. (2007). The East Bay Greenway Health Impact Assessment. *Human Impact Partners*. https://www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/assets/2007/09/ www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/assets/2007/09/
 wwwhealthimpactprojectorgresourcesdocumenteastbaygreenway.pdf
- Heller, J., Malekafzali, S., Todman, L. C., & Wier, M. (2013). *Promoting Equity through the Practice of Health Impact Assessment*. SOPHIA. https://hiasociety.org/resources/Documents/HIA-Promoting-Equity.pdf
- Human Impact Partners. (2016). How to advance equity through Health Impact Assessments. Human Impact Partners. https://humanimpact.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/
 SOPHIA EquityMetricsV2 2016.11.pdf
- Human Impact Partners. (2013, November). *HIA Summary Guide*. https://humanimpact.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/HIA-Summary-Guides-updated-3-21-2014.pdf
- Korfmacher, K. S. (2020). Promoting health equity through the built environment in Duluth, MN: External Resources and Local Evolution Toward Health in All Policies. *Chronicles of Health Impact Assessment*, 5(1), 24034. https://doi.org/10.18060/24034
- <u>Krupnick, A., Echarte, I. (2017).</u> Economic Impacts of Unconventional Oil and Gas Development. *Resources for the Future*. https://www.rff.org/publications/reports/economic-impacts-of-unconventional-oil-and-gas-development/
- Lester, C., & Temple, M. (2004). Rapid collaborative health impact assessment: A three-meeting process. *Public Health*, 118(3), 218–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2003.08.005
- Lester, C., & Temple, M. (2006). Health impact assessment and community involvement in land remediation decisions. *Public Health*, 120(10), 915–922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2006.05.011
- Mahoney, M., Simpson, S., Harris, E., Aldrich, R., & Stewart Williams, J. (2004, August). *Equity-Focused Health Impact Assessment Framework*. HIA Connect. http://hiaconnect.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/EFHIA Framework.pdf
- McCartney, G., Palmer, S., Winterbottom, J., Jones, R., Kendall, R., & Booker, D. (2010). A health impact assessment of the 2014 Commonwealth Games in Glasgow. *Public Health*, 124(8–2), 444–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2010.04.004
- Mindell, J. S., Boltong, A., & Forde, I. (2008). A review of health impact assessment frameworks. *Public Health*, 122(11), 1177–1187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2008.03.014
- Mittelmark, M. B. (2001). Promoting social responsibility for health: Health impact assessment and healthy public policy at the community level. *Health Promotion International*, 16(3), 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/16.3.269
- New York City Department of Transportation. (2022). *Safe Streets for Seniors*. https://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/html/pedestrians/safeseniors.shtml
- Pan American Health Organization and World Health Organization. (2013). *Health Impact Assessment: Concepts and Guidelines for the Americas*. https://www.paho.org/en/documents/health-impact-assessment-concepts-and-guidelines-americas-0.
- Parry, J., & Wright, J. (2003). Community participation in health impact assessments: Intuitively appealing but practically difficult. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 81(6), 388.

- The Pew Charitable Trusts. (2018). *HIAS and other resources to advance health-informed decisions*. https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/data-visualizations/2015/hia-map? sortBy=relevance&sortOrder=asc&page=1
- Ross, C., Leone de Nie, K., Dannenberg, A., Beck, L., Marcus, M., Barringer, J. (2012). Health Impact Assessment of the Atlanta BeltLine. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 42(3), 203-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.10.019
- Sadare, O., Williams, M., & Simon, L. (2020). Implementation of the Health Equity Impact Assessment (HEIA) tool in a local public health setting: Challenges, facilitators, and impacts. *Canadian Journal of Public Health* (*Revue Canadienne De Sante Publique*), 111(2), 212–219. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-019-00269-2
- Sampson, N., Sagovac, S., Schulz, A., Fink, L., Mentz, G., Reyes, A., Rice, K., de Majo, R., Gamboa, C., & Vial, B. (2020). Mobilizing for Community Benefits to Assess Health and Promote Environmental Justice near the Gordie Howe International Bridge. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17 (13), 4680. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17134680
- Scott-Samuel, A., Birley, M., & Ardern, K. (n.d.). *The Merseyside Guidelines for Health Impact Assessment*. International Health IMPACT Assessment Consortium. http://www.precaution.org/lib/06/mersey hia guide 2nd edn.010601.pdf.
- Sheffield, P., Rowe, M., Agu, D., Rodríguez, L., & Avilés, K. (2014). Health impact assessments for environmental restoration: The case of Caño Martín Peña. *Annals of Global Health*, 80(4), 296–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aogh.2014.07.001
- Society of Practitioners of Health Impact Assessment. (n.d.). What is HIA and HIAP? https://hiasociety.org/What-is-HIA
- Sohn, E. K., Stein, L. J., Wolpoff, A., Lindberg, R., Baum, A., McInnis-Simoncelli, A., & Pollack, K. M. (2018). Avenues of Influence: The Relationship between Health Impact Assessment and Determinants of Health and Health Equity. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 95(5), 754–764. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-018-0263-5
- SOPHIA. (2015, December). *Stakeholder Engagement: Planning and Budget Resource*. https://hiasociety.org/resources/Documents/SEBudgetResource.pdf
- SOPHIA. (2016, March). *Communicating About Equity in Health Impact Assessment: A Guide for Practitioners*. https://hiasociety.org/resources/Documents/Communicating Equity in HIA Final.pdf
- Weisner, M., Allshouse, W., Erjavac, B., Valdez, A., Vahling, J., McKenzie, L. (2023). Health Symptoms and Proximity to Active Multi-Well Unconventional Oil and Gas Development Sites in the City and County of Broomfield, Colorado. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 20, 2634. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20032634
- Whitehead, S. (2023, May 18). Health Impact Assessment Overview. SOPHIA. http://hiasociety.org/page-18205
- Witter, R., McKenzie, L., Stinson, K., Scott, K., Newman, L. S., Adgate, J. (2013). The Use of Health Impact Assessment for a Community Undergoing Natural Gas Development. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103, pp. 1002-1010. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301017
- Wright, J., Parry, J., & Mathers, J. (2005). Participation in health impact assessment: Objectives, methods and core values. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 83(1), 58–63.









724.260.5504 | info@environmentalhealthproject.org | environmentalhealthproject.org